FILED

Mar 29, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

#### 33833-9-III Consolidated with No. 33834-7-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v.

MICHAEL K. HURLBURT, RESPONDENT

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v .

NANCY L. ST. PIERRE-WALSH, RESPONDENT.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JEFFREY S. BARKDULL Prosecuting Attorney

Gretchen E. Verhoef, Specially Appointed Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Appellant

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

# **

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that it was unable to consider the anonymous informant's tip to law enforcement where that tip was corroborated by independent evidence of criminal activity?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that the declaration in support of the search warrant was not supported by probable cause where law enforcement viewed growing marijuana plants on defendant's property and defendant had a criminal history of possessing marijuana with intent to manufacture or deliver?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Hurlburt was charged on February 9, 2015, in Lincoln County Superior Court, with one count of possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine, and one count of unlawful possession of an explosive device. CP 1. Defendant St. Pierre-Walsh was charged on February 9, 2015, with one count of possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. CP 86. These charges were filed after law enforcement obtained and executed a search warrant for Mr. Hurlburt's property, including his residence and unattached garage. CP 57.

On April 29, 2014, Detective Roland Singer received information that Defendant Hurlburt had a possible marijuana grow operation on his property in Creston, Washington. CP 50. The reporting party indicated that he or she did not believe that Mr. Hurlburt possessed any authorization to have a marijuana grow on his property. CP 50.

Additionally, the reporting party told the detective that he or she believed that Defendant Hurlburt was a convicted felon and was in possession of a handgun at the residence, as the individual had seen a picture of Mr. Hurlburt kneeling in front of a dead cougar with a handgun resting on the cougar.<sup>1</sup> CP 50. The detective was familiar with

3

Detective Singer subsequently contacted a Department of Fish and Wildlife officer, who determined based on the Department's records that the

Mr. Hurlburt and was aware that he was, in fact, a convicted felon. CP 50. At the time of the April report, the detective was unable to locate the photograph of the defendant with the cougar and handgun, and did not complete the investigation at that time. CP 50.

Approximately three and a half months later, on August 16, 2014, the Lincoln County Sheriff's Department received a second report from the earlier reporting party. CP 50. On that date, the reporting party provided the Sheriff's Department with the photograph depicting Mr. Hurlburt posing with the cougar and handgun. CP 50. The reporting party again reported that Mr. Hurlburt was selling live marijuana plants, and that a large amount of traffic had been traveling to and from the defendant's residence recently. CP 51. The reporting party stated the traffic is usually between midnight and two o'clock in the morning, and that the vehicles enter Mr. Hurlburt's property with their headlights turned off. CP 51.

Detective Singer then ran Mr. Hurlburt's criminal history, and determined that he had 22 felony convictions, including possession of marijuana with intent to manufacture or deliver. CP 51.

defendant had never purchased a cougar tag or hunting license. CP 50. However, the detective was unable to locate the photograph online at that time. CP 50.

4

Two days later, on August 18, 2014, Detective Singer received information that Lincoln County Deputy Steadman had responded to Mr. Hurlburt's residence on an unrelated investigation on August 1, 2014 at 5:46 p.m.<sup>2</sup> CP 51. While conducting that investigation, Deputy Steadman observed growing marijuana plants on Mr. Hurlburt's property. CP 51. Those plants were approximately four feet tall and were located in the garden area of the property on the north side of the unattached garage. CP 51. The marijuana garden was surrounded by a short chain link fence. CP 51.<sup>3</sup>

Detective Singer prepared a search warrant for the defendant's residence, yard, and garage, including all of the above information for judicial review. Detective Singer's affidavit in support of the search warrant also set forth the detective's training and experience with

RP 25.

Deputy Steadman was apparently unaware of Detective Singer's investigation of Mr. Hurlburt. RP 22.

After receiving this information from Deputy Steadman, Detective Singer testified he believed he had sufficient corroboration of the informant's tip.

A. At that point in time when we had the information from Deputy Steadman referenced the marijuana grow, I didn't feel that the case handed [sic] off of the information from the informant at that time.

Q. You felt that you had a sufficient independent investigation?

A. Yes.

narcotics investigations. CP 49-52. The detective indicated that he received training in drug identification, and had been involved in marijuana, cocaine, and methamphetamine investigations. CP 41. He indicated that his training included, but was not limited to, the identification, manufacture, and packaging of these drugs. CP 41. The detective was trained in conspiracy investigations involving activities in complex drug cases with multiple suspects. CP 49. He was a certified marijuana leaf technician. CP 50. He received additional training and had investigated these types of cases, and had assisted other officers in the investigation of these types of cases as well. CP 50.

He indicated in the affidavit in support of the search warrant that he knows through his experience that processed marijuana<sup>4</sup> is never kept inside an outdoor grow enclosure that is exposed to the elements. CP 51. He also indicated that he knows through his experience that harvested plants are usually taken into buildings near the grow site to hang and dry before the usable portion is processed for consumption. CP 51-52. He indicated that he knows through his experience that it is a common practice for individuals growing mature marijuana plants outside, to have a starter room located on the property with young plants under grow

The term "processed marijuana" connotes harvested marijuana and the product derived thereafter, as opposed to growing marijuana plants. *See generally, State v. Browne*, 181 Wn. App. 756, 327 P.3d 63 (2014).

lights, so that the grower may replenish their numbers when the mature plants are harvested. CP 51. The detective further indicated that he knows through his experience that medical records for medical marijuana grows are often kept inside a building or residence near the grow site to avoid having them destroyed by the elements. CP 51.

The affidavit in support of the search warrant sought authorization to search Mr. Hurlburt's property:

The property located at 41840 Paradise Lane North, Creston, WA, 99147 has a legal description of PT RY 611 (PT NE) with a parcel number 2734001500052 in the County of Lincoln, State of Washington. This property is at the very end [of] Sterling Road Valley Road on Paradise Lane. There are three houses on Paradise Lane and Hurlburt lives in the third residence with an unattached garage located on the property to the southeast of the residence. The legal owner is listed as Michael K. Hurlburt.

#### CP 52.

The affidavit in support of the search warrant sought authorization to seize:

- (1) Any and all marijuana plants being grown on or in the premises that are in violation of the State Medical Marijuana Act.
- (2) Any and all documentation relating to any possible medical marijuana authorized patients that may possess and/or grow medical marijuana at the above listed residence.
- (3) Indication of occupancy, residency and/or ownership of the premises described in the search warrant above,

- including, but not limited to, utility and telephone bills, canceled envelopes and keys.
- (4) Any and all processed marijuana found that exceeds the amount allotted a patient under the state medical marijuana act to possess.
- (5) Any and all firearms located on the property to include but not limited to a black semi-automatic pistol photographed in Hurlburt's possession.
- (6) A cougar pelt photographed in Hurlburt's possession taken illegally.

#### CP 52.

The crimes identified as being investigated were "RCW 69.50.401 Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) with the Intent to Manufacture, and RCW 9.41.040 Unlawful Possession of a Firearm 2<sup>nd</sup> Degree." CP 50.

Detective Singer presented the search warrant to Lincoln County Superior Court Judge Strohmeier. Judge Strohmeier signed the search warrant on August 25, 2014, and the warrant was executed on August 26, 2014. CP 59-61. During the execution of the warrant, law enforcement located pipe bomb making material (pipes, powder and fuses) and drug paraphernalia that later tested positive for methamphetamine. CP 60. Based on that discovery, the detective requested a telephonic amendment to the search warrant in order to seize those items, and Judge Strohmeier granted the amendment. CP 59. The items were seized, CP 60, and Mr. Hurlburt was charged with possession of the bomb making materials

and possession of methamphetamine, and Ms. St. Pierre-Walsh was charged with possession of methamphetamine. CP 1, 86.

Counsel for both Mr. Hurlburt and Ms. St. Pierre-Walsh moved to suppress the fruits of the search. CP 3-18, 88-91. Mr. Hurlburt presented several arguments to the trial court supporting his motion to suppress all evidence obtained during the search and all statements made by the defendant during or after the search.<sup>5</sup> Of relevance here are defendant's arguments that (1) the search warrant was defective because it failed to state anything about the reliability of the informant, or the basis of the informant's knowledge; (2) the search warrant was defective because the declaration did not state when the defendant was allegedly engaged in criminal activity; and (3) the search of the detached outbuilding was invalid because the declaration contained no information that anyone observed any criminal activity inside the outbuilding and the outbuilding was not specified as a place to be searched.<sup>6</sup> CP 6-11.

5

Apparently Mr. Hurlburt made some verbal statements to law enforcement during and after the execution of the search warrant. CP 5. The motion to suppress those statements simply addressed the defendant's contention that an illegal search requires the suppression of both tangible evidence and defendant's statements. CP 10. Defendant ostensibly argued below that the suppression of all statements is required if the search warrant was unsupported by probable cause. CP 10. The court did not evaluate this argument. CP at passim.

Other arguments were made by both Mr. Hurlburt and Ms. St. Pierre-Walsh, but are not at issue here, as the court did not consider or address those arguments in granting the motion to suppress. CP 11, 15, 88-91. Of note,

The trial court suppressed all evidence located inside the residence and the garage, reversing its *own* earlier decision from August 25, 2014 (when it issued the search warrant). The court concluded, in relevant part:

An anonymous informant requires a higher degree of corroboration than a citizen informant to satisfy the credibility prong. The declaration does not provide a sufficient factual basis for the anonymous informant's statements that contraband or other evidence of illegal activity would be found at the premises described in the warrant contemporaneous with the issuance of the search warrant or that the informant was reliable. Therefore, the court did not rely on any of the informant's statements at the time of the application for the search warrant or at the time of the suppression hearing.

#### CP 69 (Conclusion of Law 2).

The declaration does provide sufficient information to support a search warrant of Mr. Hurlburt's fenced yard. At the time of the application for the search warrant the deputy did not appear to have information whether Mr. Hurlburt was allowed to claim a legal grow for medical marijuana for himself or to maintain a community garden. Therefore, any such claim of a legal grow would be an affirmative defense but would not be a basis for suppression of the search of the yard.

#### CP 70 (Conclusion of Law 6).

There was no information setting forth any specific facts that contraband or other evidence of illegal activity could be found inside the residence or detached garage, only the deputy's generalized observations from his previous training and law enforcement experience that processed

however, is that none of Ms. St. Pierre-Walsh's arguments at the hearing were included in the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, and rather her dismissal resulted from the court agreeing with Mr. Hurlburt's arguments at the motion.

marijuana is not kept outside and open to the elements, that harvested plants are taken inside to hang and dry, and that it is common practice to have a room located on the property with young starter plants and grow lights.

## CP 70 (Conclusion of Law 7).7

Based on the foregoing conclusions, the declaration would be legally insufficient to establish probable cause to search the residence or garage, and the search was unlawful.

#### CP 70 (Conclusion of Law 8).

The court's ruling suppressed all tangible evidence and the statements made by the defendant during and after the search. CP 71, 111. The court then dismissed the cases against Mr. Hurlburt and

Detective Singer testified that his knowledge of the fact that marijuana paperwork, starter plants, and grow lights are generally kept indoors are "generalizations":

RP 36.

Q. So these are just generalizations based on your knowledge, training and experience?

A. You could say that, yes.

Q. Did you have any information if there was any contraband inside the garage?

A. Just off of previous investigations. It is usually associated with marijuana grows.

Q. So the answer is no, you did not have any information that there was any illegal evidence, illegal materials inside the garage?

A. That particular garage, no. Like I said and I testified to, just off of previous investigations, and how I have investigated several of these marijuana grows and nine of out ten of them, this is exactly how they work.

Ms. St. Pierre-Walsh, finding that the practical effect of the suppression order was to terminate the cases. CP 83, 104. The State appealed.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

In this case, the parties certainly agree on one thing: that the trial court erred during the proceedings below. It was the defendant's position during the pretrial motions that the trial court erred in authorizing the search of the defendant's property on August 25, 2014. It is the State's position on appeal that the trial judge erred in failing to give his own decision to authorize that search warrant due deference, and that it erred in suppressing all fruits of the search by order dated October 1, 2015, thereby effectively terminating the prosecution of these cases.

The court reviews a trial court's conclusions of law pertaining to the suppression of evidence de novo. *State v. Fry*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 5, 228 P.3d 1 (2010). The court also reviews de novo whether qualifying sworn information as a whole presents probable cause supporting a search warrant. *In Re Det. of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 800, 42 P.3d 952 (2002); *State v. Ellis*, 178 Wn. App. 801, 327 P.3d 1247 (2014).

Search warrants may only be issued upon a determination of probable cause. U.S. CONST. amend IV; CONST. art I, § 7; CrR 2.3(c). Probable cause exists where there are facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in

criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity can be found in the place to be searched. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). "It is only the *probability* of criminal activity, not a prima facie showing of it, that governs probable cause." *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004) (emphasis added).

A search warrant is entitled to a presumption of validity. *State v. Wolken*, 103 Wn.2d 823, 827-28, 700 P.2d 319 (1985). This presumption of validity stems from the court's "warrant preference."

Because a search warrant "provides the detached scrutiny of a neutral magistrate, which is a more reliable safeguard against improper searches than the hurried judgment of a law enforcement officer 'engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime," ... we have expressed a strong preference for warrants and declared that "in a doubtful or marginal case a search under a warrant may be sustainable where without one it would fail."

*United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 913-914, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 (1984).

The decision to issue a search warrant is highly discretionary and the court generally gives great deference to the magistrate's determination of probable cause, and views the supporting affidavit for a search warrant in a commonsensical manner rather than hypertechnically. *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). Therefore, courts normally resolve doubts concerning the existence of probable cause in

favor of the validity of the search warrant. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108-109, 59 P.3d 58 (2002).

The State now agrees with the trial court's conclusion that the information provided by the informant regarding the handgun, the cougar pelt, and the photograph of the defendant with those items did not have a sufficient nexus to the defendant's residence or garage, as there was no information provided as to when or where the photograph was taken. CP 70 (Conclusion of Law 4; Conclusion of Law 5); RP 51-53.<sup>8</sup> Thus, this information will not be discussed further, and has only been included

8

. . .

RP 53-55.

I think I erred when I (inaudible) same time showed me the picture. I think I leaped to conclusions a little about the --because it was so graphic and it was like okay, this is a convicted felon with a gun in his hand, but maybe four months earlier, not his property, I jumped to conclusion apparently, and I have to rectify that point.

So ... I have to say that that information is not sufficient.

So I initially hung my hat on the picture, which I shouldn't have. The anonymous report, I read it several times trying to find out what basis do I have to support the search warrant as to the marijuana grow when you don't know it was illegal, and it wasn't apparently illegal, so I don't think I can assume all grows are illegal and then subject to being legal, that may be an issue, I guess, for the courts.

in the factual statement above to provide this court with context as to what the trial court originally considered in authorizing the warrant.<sup>9</sup>

As discussed below, however, the trial court erred in failing to excise the information relating to the handgun and the cougar pelt from the warrant and evaluate the remainder of the warrant for its validity in light of the deference due to the court's initial decision to issue the warrant, and case law that was in effect at the time of the search.

# A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE ANONYMOUS INFORMANT AS UNRELIABLE, AND THEREFORE, DECLINING TO CONSIDER THAT INFORMATION IN ITS DETERMINATION OF PROBABLE CAUSE.

In cases involving anonymous tips, Washington courts use the Aguilar- $Spinelli^{10}$  test to analyze challenges to the validity of search warrants reviewed under Article 1, section 7 of the Washington

The trial court indicated in the findings of fact and conclusions of law that it relied on the photograph of Mr. Hurlburt with the gun and the cougar pelt (and the detective's description of the same) when making its original determination of probable cause; however, it did not rely "on any of the informant's statements at the time of the application for the search warrant or at the time of the suppression hearing" even though it was the informant who provided the photograph to law enforcement, as well as additional information that was corroborated by Deputy Steadman's unrelated investigation at Mr. Hurlburt's property at which time the marijuana garden was seen by law enforcement. CP 69-70.

Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637 (1969); Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964).

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