FILED

JULY 20, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 33833-9-III (consolidated with No. 33834-7-III) IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Appellant,

vs.

MICHAEL HURLBURT and NANCY ST. PIERRE WALSH Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE LINCOLN COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable John F. Strohmaier, Judge

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MICHAEL KEVIN HURLBURT

SUSAN MARIE GASCH WSBA No. 16485 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Respondent Michael Hurlburt

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

C. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE

 The search warrant was unsupported by probable cause, requiring suppression of evidence recovered from the residence and garage.

The search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause to search the residence and garage. First, the reliability and basis of knowledge of the anonymous informant was not established and the police investigation did not otherwise corroborate the informant's tips beyond the

³ There is no citation to the record because the state did not designate its notices of appeal as part of the clerk's papers, as required by RAP 9.6(b)(1). *See* CP 84–85, 123–24.

fact of an outdoor marijuana grow. Second, the affidavit does not establish the requisite nexus between the outdoor marijuana grow and the other places to be searched. The warrant therefore did not satisfy the requirements of article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The trial court correctly concluded the evidence found in the residence and garage must be suppressed.

1. Standard of Review.

Normally the issuance of a search warrant is reviewed for abuse of discretion (*State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 509, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004)) and deference is given to the issuing judge or magistrate. *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 195, 867 P.2d 593 (1994). However, at the suppression hearing the trial court acts in an appellate-like capacity and its review, like that of the reviewing court, is limited to the four corners of the affidavit supporting probable cause. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn. 2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008) (citations omitted). The affidavit is viewed in a commonsense manner rather than hypertechnically. *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). All doubts are resolved in favor of the validity of the warrant. *Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d at 509. However, "[w]hile [the reviewing court] give[s] great deference to the magistrate, that deference is

not unlimited." *State v. Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d 354, 362, 275 P.3d 314 (2012). The reviewing court "cannot defer to the magistrate where the affidavit does not provide a substantial basis for determining probable cause." *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 363. The trial court's assessment of probable cause is a legal conclusion that is reviewed de novo." *Neth*, 165 Wn. 2d at 182.

2. The Aguilar-Spinelli test is unsatisfied.

A search warrant must not issue unless there is probable cause to conduct the search. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 7; *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 359. "To establish probable cause, the affidavit must set forth sufficient facts to convince a reasonable person of the probability the defendant is engaged in criminal activity and that evidence of criminal activity can be found at the place to be searched." *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 359. In determining whether the supporting affidavit establishes probable cause, review is limited to the four corners of the affidavit. *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 182. "When adjudging the validity of a search warrant, we consider *only* the information that was brought to the attention of the issuing judge or magistrate at the time the warrant was requested." *State v. Murray*, 110 Wn.2d 706, 709–10, 757 P. 2d 487 (1988).

When the existence of probable cause depends on an informant's tip, the affidavit in support of the warrant must establish the basis of the

informant's information as well as the veracity of the informant under the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test. *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 432, 433, 688 P.2d 136 1984) (citing *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U. S. 108, 84 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d 723 (1964); *Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U. S. 410, 89 S. Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed. 2d 637 (1969)). To satisfy both parts of the *Aguilar - Spinelli* test, the affidavit must state circumstances from which the issuing magistrate "may draw upon to conclude the informant was credible and obtained the information in a reliable manner." *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 112, 59 P. 3d 58 (2002).

Where the informant's identity is not revealed, courts require heightened demonstrations of reliability." *State v. Rodriguez*, 53 Wn. App. 571, 575–576, 769 P.2d 309 (1989); *see also State v Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d 813, 850, 312 P. 3d 1 (2013), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 72 (2014) ("an identified informant's report is less likely to be marred by self-interest") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Where an informant is acting out of self-interest, there is a risk that she or he has a motive to falsify. *State v. Aase*, 121 Wn. App. 558, 568, 89 P. 3d 721 (2004). Courts are concerned about anonymous informants who are "involved in the criminal activity or motivated by self - interest." *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 287–88, 906 P. 2d 925 (1995).

Here, the anonymous informant was not named in the declaration; accordingly, the declarant was required to demonstrate heightened reliability. CP 72–76. Instead, the declaration is silent regarding any basis for an independent determination by the issuing magistrate of the "anonymous caller's" veracity.

Further, the knowledge prong of the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test is unsatisfied in regard to the informant's statements, including that "they believe [Hurlburt] is growing Marijuana at his house," "Hurlburt is ... in possession of a handgun at that residence," "that there has been a large amount of traffic traveling in and out of Hurlburt's residence recently ... and Hurlburt is reportedly selling live Marijuana plants to individuals," and that "the traffic is usually between midnight and two in the morning and are [sic] entering Hurlburt's property with their vehicle lights turned off." CP 73–74.

To satisfy the "basis of knowledge" prong, the officer must explain how the informant claims to have come by the information given to police. *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 437. That is, "the informant must declare that he personally has seen the facts asserted and is passing on first-hand information." *Id*.

The declaration lacked any factual basis for the anonymous caller's purported knowledge that contraband could be found at Hurlburt's residence and/or garage. The informant's tip fails the knowledge prong of the *Aguilar–Spinelli* test.

Having failed both prongs of the test, the trial court was correct in its assessment that the informant's tips were insufficient to establish probable cause to search the residence and garage.

3. The informant's information is not sufficiently corroborated to establish probable cause.

If an informant's tip fails under either or both parts of the test, "probable cause may yet be established by independent police investigatory work that corroborates the tip to such an extent that it supports the missing elements of the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test." *Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d at 438. "The independent police investigations should point to suspicious activity, 'probative indications of criminal activity along the lines suggested by the informant.' " *Id.* at 438 (quoting *United States v. Canieso*, 470 F.2d 1224, 1231 (2d Cir. 1972)).

Here, the state argues the requisite corroboration needed for probable cause to search the residence and garage was provided by police observation of marijuana plants growing in an outdoor fenced area, verification that Hurlburt was a convicted felon, and awareness that his

criminal history included felony drug convictions including possession of marijuana with the intent to manufacture and/or deliver. Brief of Appellant, p. 19.

In the absence of evidence of criminal activity likely taking place in the house or garage, police observation of the marijuana grow corroborated the informant's tip but only provided probable cause to search the yard. The observing officer surely would have reported there was probable cause to search the house had he "smelled marijuana emanating from [Hurlburt's] residence" when he contacted Hurlburt at the residence on an unrelated investigation. CP 74; *see* Brief of Appellant, p. 17–18; *see State v. Fry*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 7, 228 P.3d 1 (2010).

In the absence of any underlying facts or circumstances, the status of being a convicted felon who is prohibited from possessing or using a handgun does not make it more likely that criminal activity was likely taking place at, or that the photograph depicted events connected with, the yard, residence or garage. The status is a fact consistent with both lawful and unlawful conduct and does not constitute probable cause to search. *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 185.

The fact of a prior conviction for possession of marijuana with intent to manufacture or deliver would be unhelpful in establishing

probable cause where the declaration—as here—merely establishes marijuana being grown ostensibly on Hurlburt's property and does not implicate him in criminal activity regarding the grow operation or at the garage or residence. Cf. State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 748–49, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001) (Factual information in affidavit established probable cause for a warrant to search defendant's van for trace evidence relating to missing girl, where affidavit alleged that defendant had been near girl's house on night she disappeared, that he had a prior conviction for unlawful imprisonment of another young girl for ostensibly sexual purposes, and that he had given deceptive answers to FBI officer during polygraph examination relating to girl's disappearance); State v. Stone, 56 Wn. App. 153, 158-59, 782 P.2d 1093 (1989) (Mere observation of defendant's vehicle at the scene of the crime might be insufficient to establish probable cause to believe he had committed the burglary. However, coupled with police officer's knowledge of the similarity between the method employed in this burglary and that employed in previous burglaries by defendant, and the observation of items in his vehicle at the time of his arrest of the sort taken in this burglary, a reasonably prudent person would conclude evidence of the burglary would likely be found in his vehicle).

Information gleaned from the investigation does not sufficiently corroborate the informant's tips to establish probable cause to believe criminal activity was taking place in the residence or garage. Search warrant affidavits should not be read in a hypertechnical manner, but "establishing probable cause is not hypertechnical; it is a fundamental constitutional requirement." *Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d at 362. The trial court correctly concluded the investigation provided insufficient evidence to corroborate the informant's statements or establish the veracity of the informant. CP 67 at Finding of Fact 9.

4. The search warrant also fails for lack of nexus between the criminal activity and the place to be searched: there was no probable cause to believe evidence of a marijuana grow would be found in the residence and garage.

The declaration established probable cause to believe marijuana was being grown in an outdoor garden area. However, the search warrant still fails for lack of a nexus between the crime and the residence or garage. Search warrants are valid only if supported by probable cause. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Probable cause to search requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized, and also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched." *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140 (quoting *State v. Goble*, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997)). The affidavit in support of the warrant

must set forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140.

A warrant to search for evidence in a particular place must be based on more than generalized belief of the supposed practices of the type of criminal involved. Id. at 147–48. Rather, the warrant must contain specific facts tying the place to be searched to the crime. *Id.* "Absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to be searched, a reasonable nexus is not established as a matter of law." Id. at 147; see also, State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 329, 352, 610 P.2d 869 (1980) ("If the affidavit or testimony reveals nothing more than a declaration of suspicion and belief, it is legally insufficient"); State v. Helmka, 86 Wn.2d 91, 92, 542 P.2d 115 (1975) ("Probable cause cannot be made out by conclusory affidavits"); State v. Patterson, 83 Wn.2d 49, 52, 61, 515 P.2d 496 (1973) (record must show objective criteria going beyond the personal beliefs and suspicions of the applicants for the warrant). Probable cause for a search requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized and between that item and the place to be searched. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140.

The warrant to search the residence and garage fails for lack of nexus. The declaration did not establish probable cause that evidence of the marijuana grow operation was at the residence or garage. As an initial matter the declaration establishes doubt on its face as to whose residence and garage police could legitimately be authorized to search. The possible criminal activity reported by the anonymous caller was attributed to property at 41836 Paradise Lane North allegedly owned by Hurlburt. CP 73–74. Police stated they observed the marijuana grow while contacting Hurlburt at his residence at the 41836 Paradise Lane North address. CP 74; 9/16/15 RP 22. But police sought and obtained the search warrant for 41840 Paradise Lane North and stated Hurlburt was its legal owner. CP 75, 77. They searched and seized property from the 41840 Paradise Lane North address. The declaration is defective due to this discrepancy between place of alleged criminal activity and place to be searched.

Even if the place searched is treated as the equivalent of Hurlburt's residence for purposes of determining probable cause, the nexus is still missing. The standard is whether there is probable cause to believe contraband will be found in the specific place to be searched. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140. "The affidavit in support of the search warrant must be based on more than suspicion or mere personal belief that evidence of the

crime will be found on the premises searched." *Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d at 108. "Probable cause to believe that a suspect has committed a crime is not by itself adequate to secure a search warrant for the suspect's home." *United States v. Ramos*, 923 F.2d 1346, 1351 (9th Cir. 1991), overruled on other grounds by *United States v. Ruiz*, 257 F.3d 1030 (9th Cir. 2001).

In *Thein*, for example, the Washington Supreme Court held there was insufficient nexus between evidence that a person engaged in drug dealing and the fact that the person resided in the place searched. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 150. The affidavit in that case contained specific information tying the presence of narcotics activity to a certain residence, but not the address to be searched pursuant to the warrant. *Id.* at 136-138, 150. The affidavit also contained generalized statements of belief, based on officer training and experience, about drug dealers' common habits, particularly that they kept evidence of drug dealing in their residences. *Id.* at 138–39. The affidavit expressed the belief that such evidence would be found at the suspect's residence. *Id.* at 139. The Court held such generalizations do not establish probable cause to support a search warrant for a drug dealer's residence because probable cause must be grounded in fact. *Id.* at 146–47.

A similar consideration guides the analysis here. The declaration contains no observations that Hurlburt tended or was otherwise involved in the grow operation or that he used the detached garage or residence to further the operation. Nothing in the declaration shows anyone, including the anonymous caller, observed any grow-associated items or contraband in the garage or house. The declaration simply fails to make the necessary connection between a grow operation and the residence or garage.

Information insufficiently grounded on fact to ensure reliability will not suffice to establish a nexus between the place to be searched and suspected illegal activity. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 147. Specific facts in the supporting affidavit must establish the nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched. *Id.* at 145. The declaration here lacks specific facts tying the residence and garage to the crime. The trial court correctly concluded the declaration failed to establish the requisite nexus.

Despite the lack of *Thein's* required nexus in the search warrant declaration, the State maintains this court's decision in *State v*.

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